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The only guide to a man is his conscience; the only shield to his memory is the rectitude and sincerity of his actions. It is very imprudent to walk through life without this shield, because we are so often mocked by the failure of our hopes and the upsetting of our calculations; but with this shield, however the fates may play, we march always in the ranks of honor.

Winston Churchill, November 1940
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Prologue

The great enemy of clear language is insincerity.

George Orwell

President Richard Nixon spent New Year’s Eve 1972 watching his beloved Washington Redskins defeat the Dallas Cowboys 26–3. Afterward, Nixon wrote in his diary, “As the year 1972 ends I have much to be thankful for—China, Russia, May 8, the election victory, and, of course, while the end of the year was somewhat marred by the need to bomb Hanoi-Haiphong, that decision, I think, can make the next four years much more successful than they otherwise might have been. 1973 will be a better year.”

It was a fair assessment of 1972. It was, of course, wildly wrong about the years to come, thanks to Watergate, but on that New Year’s Eve, Nixon had reason to be optimistic. His biggest foreign policy problem, inherited from LBJ, had been the ongoing Vietnam War. Heading into 1973, it seemed likely that a peace treaty was just around the corner. Indeed, as he wrote, peace negotiations were getting restarted. The New York Times reported that Hanoi’s negotiator, Le Duc Tho, was en route to Paris for a new round of meetings with Henry Kissinger. As we now know, Tho was first making a secret stop in Beijing in order to consult with Chou Enlai. The Chinese premier summarized the state of affairs nicely. He began by noting that Nixon’s effort “to exert pressure through bombing has failed.” Observing that Nixon faced numerous international and domestic problems, Chou advised Tho to “adhere to principles but show the necessary flexibility” that would produce a settlement. “Let the Americans leave as quickly as possible. In half a year or one year the situation will change,” Chou Enlai advised Le Duc Tho. As he knew full well, 150,000 North Vietnamese troops were still in the South. The North was positioned for eventual victory; America was fed up with the war to the point of exhaustion. The ally that America had long supported, and continued to guarantee the safety of, was facing almost certain doom.

While Le Duc Tho was in China, Strom Thurmond, South Carolina’s senior Republican senator and one of Nixon’s strongest supporters, penned a personal message to the president. Nixon had always valued Thurmond’s advice and support. In 1968, Thurmond had delivered the crucial Republican southern delegates to Nixon’s nomination for president. A certified hawk on the war and a strong supporter of the Christmas bombing of North Vietnam, Thurmond wrote to the president on January 2 that any final settlement negotiated in Paris between Henry Kissinger and Le Duc Tho that allowed North Vietnam’s troops to remain in the South would be viewed as a betrayal of those who had fought and died in the war. “I am pleased that the bombing of North Vietnam has brought the communists to the negotiating table. This proves once again that the firmness of your policies brings results. It is my hope that the forthcoming negotiations will produce a revised draft agreement, which will explicitly provide that all non-south Vietnamese troops will be required to evacuate South Vietnamese territory. I am deeply concerned that past draft agreements indicate that North Vietnamese troops would be allowed to remain in South Vietnam. This could be the foundation for North Vietnam to take over South Vietnam after our final withdrawal in the future. In such an outcome, history will judge that the sacrifice of American lives was in vain.”

Three weeks later, on Tuesday, January 23, 1973, at the International Conference Center in Paris, the test of his assumption was launched. Le Duc Tho and Henry Kissinger, about to conclude their Nobel Prize–winning negotiations on the Agreement on Ending the War and Restoring Peace in Vietnam, were joking together. Kissinger said, “I changed a few pages in your Vietnamese text last night, Mr. Special Advisor, but it only concerned North Vietnamese troops. You won’t notice it until you get back home.” They shared a good laugh.

* * *

Two years later there would be no laughter.

By 1975, Watergate had unraveled the presidency of Richard Nixon. Throughout the negotiation and signing of the agreement, Kissinger and Nixon had privately promised to South Vietnam’s president, Nguyen Van Thieu, that America would intervene if any hostilities broke out between North and South, but Thieu knew that these promises were fragile. In a final plea for assistance, President Thieu penned a personal letter to a man he had never met, President Gerald Ford: “Hanoi’s intention to use the Paris agreement for a military take over of South Vietnam was well-known to us at the very time of negotiating the Paris Agreement. . . . Firm pledges were then given to us that the United States will retaliate swiftly and vigorously to any violation of the agreement. . . . We consider those pledges the most important guarantees of the Paris Agreement; those pledges have now become the most crucial ones to our survival.”

But President Ford had already accepted the political reality that Congress would not fund another supplemental budget request and that America’s involvement in Vietnam would soon be over. Reviewing the first draft of his address to a joint session of Congress, the president read his speech-writer’s proposed words: “And after years of effort, we negotiated a settlement which made it possible for us to remove our forces with honor and bring home our prisoners.” Ford crossed out the words with honor.

Henry Kissinger also knew that American honor was in danger. In the cabinet room on April 16, the secretary read aloud a letter from Sirik Matak, one of the Cambodian leaders who had refused the American ambassador’s invitation to evacuate Phnom Penh. The letter was written just hours before Mitak’s execution: “Dear Excellency and Friend, I thank you very sincerely for your letter and your offer to transport me towards freedom. I cannot, alas, leave in such a cowardly fashion. As for you, and in particular for your great country, I never believed for a moment that you would have this sentiment of abandoning a people, which has chosen liberty. You have refused us your protection, and we can do nothing about it. You leave, and my wish is that you and your country will find happiness under this sky. But, mark it well, that if I shall die here on the spot and in my country that I love, it is too bad, because we are all born and must die one day. I have committed this mistake of believing in you, the Americans.”

In Saigon, the fate of thousands of Vietnamese was on the line. The American ambassador, Graham Martin, cabled Kissinger that “the one thing that would set off violence would be a sudden order for American evacuation. It will be universally interpreted as a most callous betrayal, leaving the Vietnamese to their fate while we send in the marines to make sure that we get all ours out.” Martin pleaded with Kissinger to delay the evacuation for as long as possible because any signs of the Americans’ taking leave could set off panic and “would be one last act of betrayal that would strip us of the last vestige of honor.”

Nonetheless, evacuation plans proceeded. By April 29, the situation at the American embassy was in chaos as Ambassador Martin flagrantly disregarded the president’s evacuation order. By April 30, the top-secret transmissions came in quick bursts from the CH-46 Sea Night helicopters and the larger CH-53 Sea Stallions, which were ferrying evacuees from the American embassy rooftop to the U.S. fleet offshore. All communications between the pilots and their Airborne Battlefield Command and Control Center were simultaneously transmitted to U.S. command-and-control authorities in Hawaii and Washington. The final transmissions confirmed the bitter end of the evacuation.

“All of the remaining American personnel are on the roof at this time and Vietnamese are in the building,” reported the pilot of a CH-53. “The South Vietnamese have broken into the Embassy; they are rummaging around . . . no hostile acts noticed,” reported another transmission. From the embassy rooftop, Marine Major James Kean described the chaos below as similar to a scene from the movie On the Beach.

Finally, at 7:51 A.M. Saigon time, the embassy’s Marine ground security force spotted the CH-46 and its call sign, “Swift 22.” It was the last flight from Saigon that would take the Marines home.

The final transmission from the CH-46 arrived with just seven words: “All the Americans are out, Repeat Out.”

But not everyone was out. A breakdown in communication had occurred between those running the evacuation from the ground and those offshore, with the fleet controlling the helicopters and those making the decisions in Hawaii and Washington. “It was the Vietnam war all over again,” observed Colonel Harry G. Summers, Jr. “It was not a proud day to be an American.” There, on the embassy rooftop, over 420 Vietnamese stared into the empty skies looking for signs of returning American helicopters. Just hours earlier, they had been assured by well-intentioned Marines, “Khong ai se bi bo lai” (“No one will be left behind”).

The helicopters did not return.

From the White House, President Gerald Ford issued an official statement: “The Government of the Republic of Vietnam has surrendered. Prior to its surrender, we have withdrawn our Mission from Vietnam. Vietnam has been a wrenching experience for this nation. . . . History must be the final judge of that which we have done or left undone, in Vietnam and elsewhere. Let us calmly await its verdict.”

* * *

It has been over thirty years since the United States and Vietnam began talks intended to end the Vietnam War. The Paris Peace Talks began on May 13, 1968, under the crystal chandeliers in the ballroom of the old Majestic Hotel on Avenue Kleber and did not end until January 27, 1973, with the signing of the Agreement on Ending the War and Restoring Peace in Vietnam at the International Conference Center in Paris. Despite the agreement, not a moment of peace ever came to Vietnam. This book uses a cache of recently declassified documents to offer a new perspective on why the country known as South Vietnam ceased to exist after April 1975.

Since the very first days of his presidency in January 1969, Richard Nixon had sought an “honorable peace” in Vietnam. In January 1973 he characterized the Paris agreement as having achieved those lofty goals: “Now that we have achieved an honorable agreement, let us be proud that America did not settle for a peace that would have betrayed our allies, that would have abandoned our prisoners of war, or that would have ended the war for us, but would have continued the war for the 50 million people of Indochina.”

A speakers’ kit assembled within the White House on the evening of the president’s announcement of the cease-fire described the final document as “a vindication of the wisdom of the President’s policy in holding out for an honorable peace—and his refusal to accept a disguised and dishonorable defeat. Had it not been for the President’s courage—during four years of unprecedented vilification and attack—the United States would not today be honorably ending her involvement in the war, but would be suffering the consequences of dishonor and defeat. . . . The difference between what the President has achieved and what his opponents wanted, is the difference between peace with honor, and the false peace of an American surrender.”

A White Paper drafted for distribution to members of Congress offered more barbed attacks on his critics.

For four agonizing years, Richard Nixon has stood virtually alone in the nation’s capital while little, petty men flayed him over American involvement in Indochina. For four years, he has been the victim of the most vicious personal attacks. Day and night, America’s predominantly liberal national media hammered at Mr. Nixon, slicing from all sides, attacking, hitting, and cutting. The intellectual establishment—those whose writings entered America into the Vietnam war—pompously postured from their ivy hideaways, using their inordinate power to influence public opinion. . . . No President has been under more constant and unremitting harassment by men who should drop to their knees each night to thank the Almighty that they do not have to make the same decisions that Richard Nixon did. Standing with the President in all those years were a handful of reporters and number of newspapers—nearly all outside of Washington. There were also the courageous men of Congress who would stand firm beside the President. But most importantly there were the millions upon millions of quite ordinary Americans—-the great Silent Majority of citizens—who saw our country through a period where the shock troops of leftist public opinion daily propagandized against the President of the United States. They were people of character and steel.

Meanwhile, the North Vietnam heralded the Paris agreement as a great victory. Radio Hanoi, in domestic and foreign broadcasts, confined itself for several days to reading and rereading the Paris text and protocols. From the premier’s office in Hanoi came the declaration that the national flag of the Democratic Republic of Vietnam (DRV) should be flown throughout the country for eight days, from the moment the cease-fire went into effect on January 28 through February 4. For three days and nights, Hanoi’s streets were filled with crowds of people celebrating the fact that in 60 days there would be no foreign troops in Vietnam.

The Nhan Dan editorial of January 28, titled “The Great Historic Victory of Our Vietnamese People,” observed, “Today, 28 January, the war has ended completely in both zones of our country. The United States and other countries have pledged to respect our country’s independence, sovereignty, reunification, and territorial integrity. The United States will withdraw all U.S. troops and the troops of other foreign countries and their advisors and military personnel, dismantle U.S. military bases in the southern part of our country and respect our southern people’s right to self-determination and other democratic freedoms.”

Premier Pham Van Dong was more forthcoming to American broadcaster Walter Cronkite that “the Paris Agreement marked an important victory of our people in their resistance against U.S. aggression, for national salvation. For us, its terms were satisfactory. . . . The Paris agreement paved the way for our great victory in the Spring of 1975 which put an end to more than a century of colonial and neo-colonial domination over our country and restored the independence, freedom and unity of our homeland.”

Perhaps the most honest response came from a young North Vietnamese cadre by the name of Man Duc Xuyen, living in Ha Bac province in North Vietnam. In a postcard, he extended Tet New Year wishes to his family. “Dear father, mother and family,” the letter began. “When we have liberated South Viet-Nam and have unified the country, I will return.”

Only in South Vietnam was there no joy or celebration over the signing of the Paris agreement. By the terms of the deal, over 150,000 North Vietnamese troops remained in the South, whereas the United States, over the course of Nixon’s presidency, had unilaterally withdrawn over 500,000 of its own troops. President Nguyen Van Thieu and his fellow countrymen understood that the diplomatic battle had been won by Le Duc Tho. President Thieu was agreeing to nothing more than a protocol for American disengagement. True, President Nixon had guaranteed brutal retaliation if the North resumed any aggression. But could these guarantees be trusted? The fate of his country depended on them. Twenty-eight months later, South Vietnam would disappear.

* * *

To date, there have been two quite different explanations for the failure of the Paris Accords and the subsequent end of the country known as South Vietnam.

Richard Nixon and Henry Kissinger have always maintained that they won the war and that Congress lost the peace. The treaty itself, they said, although not perfect, was sound enough to have allowed for a political solution if North Vietnam had not so blatantly violated it. North and South Vietnam could have remained separate countries. When the North did violate the agreement, Watergate prevented the president from backing up his secret guarantees to President Thieu. Kissinger goes even further, insisting there was nothing secret about the promises Nixon made to Thieu. In any case, by mid-1973 Nixon was waging a constitutional battle with Congress over executive privilege and abuse of powers; he could hardly start a new battle over war powers to defend South Vietnam. “By 1973, we had achieved our political objective: South Vietnam’s independence had been secured,” Nixon later told Monica Crowley, former foreign policy assistant and confidante, “But by 1975, the Congress destroyed our ability to enforce the Paris agreement and left our allies vulnerable to Hanoi’s invading forces. If I sound like I’m blaming Congress, I am.”

Kissinger has put it this way: “Our tragedy was our domestic situation . . . In April [1973], Watergate blew up, and we were castrated. . . . The second tragedy was that we were not permitted to enforce the agreement. . . . I think it’s reasonable to assume he [Nixon] would have bombed the hell out of them during April.”

The other explanation for the failure of the Paris Accords is known as the “decent interval.” This explanation is far less charitable to Nixon or Kissinger because it is premised on the assumption that by January 1973, U.S. leaders cared only about securing the release of American POWs and getting some type of accounting on MIAs, especially in Laos. The political future of South Vietnam would be left for the Vietnamese to decide; we just did not want the communists to triumph too quickly. Kissinger knew that Hanoi would eventually win. By signing the peace agreement, Hanoi was not abandoning its long-term objective, merely giving the U.S. a fig leaf with which to exit. In his book Decent Interval, Frank Snepp wrote: “The Paris Agreement was thus a cop-out of sorts, an American one. The only thing it definitely guaranteed was an American withdrawal from Vietnam, for that depended on American action alone. The rest of the issues that had sparked the war and kept it alive were left essentially unresolved—and irresolvable.”

Kissinger was asked by the assistant to the president, John Ehrlichman, “How long do you figure the South Vietnamese can survive under this agreement?” Ehrlichman reported that Kissinger answered, “I think that if they’re lucky they can hold out for a year and a half.” When Kissinger’s assistant John Negroponte opined that the agreement was not in the best interests of South Vietnam, Kissinger asked him, “Do you want us to stay there forever?”

Nixon yearned to be remembered by history as a great foreign policy president; he needed a noncommunist South Vietnam on that ledger in order to sustain a legacy that already included détente with the Soviets and an opening with China. If South Vietnam was going down the tubes, it could not be on Nixon’s watch. “What really matters now is how it all comes out,” Nixon wrote in his diary in April 1972. “Both Haldeman and Henry seem to have an idea—which I think is mistaken—that even if we fail in Vietnam we can survive politically. I have no illusions whatsoever on that score, however. The US will not have a credible policy if we fail, and I will have to assume responsibility for that development.”

* * *

No Peace, No Honor draws on recently declassified records to show that the true picture is worse than either of these perspectives suggests. The reality was the opposite of the decent interval hypothesis and far beyond Nixon’s and Kissinger’s claims. The record shows that the United States expected that the signed treaty would be immediately violated and that this would trigger a brutal military response. Permanent war (air war, not ground operations) at acceptable cost was what Nixon and Kissinger anticipated from the so-called peace agreement. They believed that the only way the American public would accept it was if there was a signed agreement. Nixon recognized that winning the peace, like the war, would be impossible to achieve, but he planned for indefinite stalemate by using the B-52s to prop up the government of South Vietnam until the end of his presidency. Just as the Tonkin Gulf Resolution provided a pretext for an American engagement in South Vietnam, the Paris Accords were intended to fulfill a similar role for remaining permanently engaged in Vietnam. Watergate derailed the plan.

The declassified record shows that the South Vietnamese, North Vietnamese, and the United States disregarded key elements of the treaty because all perceived it was in their interest to do so. No one took the agreement seriously because each party viewed it as a means for securing something unstated. For the United States, as part of the Nixon Doctrine, it was a means of remaining permanently involved in Southeast Asia; for the North Vietnamese, it was the means for eventual conquest and unification of Vietnam; for the South Vietnamese, it was a means for securing continued support from the United States.

The truth has remained buried for so long because Richard Nixon and Henry Kissinger did everything possible to deny any independent access to the historical record. As witnesses to history, they used many classified top-secret documents in writing their respective memoirs but later made sure that everyone else would have great difficulty accessing the same records. They have limited access to personal papers, telephone records, and other primary source materials that would allow for any independent assessments of the record pertaining to the evolution of negotiating strategies and compromises that were raised at different stages of the protracted process. The late Admiral Elmo “Bud” Zumwalt, Jr., former chief of naval operations, said that “Kissinger’s method of writing history is similar to that of communist historians who took justifications from the present moment and projected backwards, fact by fact, in accounting for their country’s past. Under this method, nothing really was as it happened.” This is how the administration’s history of “peace with honor” was written.

The personal papers of Henry Kissinger are deposited in the Library of Congress with a deed of gift restricting access until five years after his death. For years we have been denied access to the full transcripts of Kissinger’s negotiations. Verbatim hand-written transcripts of the secret meetings in Paris were kept by Kissinger’s assistants, Tony Lake, Winston Lord, and John Negroponte. Negroponte gave a complete set of these meeting notes to Kissinger for writing his memoirs, but they were never returned. In his deposition to the Kerry Committee investigation, which examined virtually all aspects of the MIA issue and gave special attention to the Paris negotiations, Winston Lord stated that there were “verbatim transcripts of every meeting with the Vietnamese. I’m talking now about the secret meetings, because I took, particularly toward the beginning, and we got some help at the end, the notes as did Negroponte or Smyser or Rodman and so on.” Only now have notes of these secret back-channel meetings become available. Furthermore, the North Vietnamese have published their own narrative translation of the Kissinger-Tho negotiations.

This is the story of a peace negotiation that began with Lyndon Johnson in 1968 and ended with the fall of South Vietnam in 1975. Many secret meetings were involved. The principal sources include transcript-like narratives of documents from Hanoi archives that have been translated by Luu Van Loi and Nguyen Anh Vu and published as Le Duc Tho–Kissinger Negotiations in Paris; declassified meeting transcripts from a congressional investigation of MIAs in Southeast Asia; declassified meeting notes from the papers of Tony Lake and memoranda of conversations from recently declassified materials in the National Archives or presidential libraries. These three have been triangulated to connect minutes as well as linkages between events. In many cases, I have been able to fill in classified sections through materials in back-channel cables from Kissinger to Ambassador Ellsworth Bunker or President Nixon.

Here, then, is the emerging story of what Nixon called “peace with honor” but was, in fact, neither. This story of diplomatic deception and public betrayal has come to the light only because of the release of documents and tapes that Richard Nixon and Henry Kissinger sought to bury for as long as possible. Prior to these declassifications, we knew only what Nixon or Kissinger wanted us to know about the making of war and shaping of the so-called honorable peace in Vietnam.



CHAPTER ONE
“Search for Peace”

[Ambassador Averell] Harriman told me at least twelve times that if I called a halt, the North Vietnamese and Vietcong would stop shelling South Vietnamese cities. But nothing happened. Every one of the bombing halts was a mistake.

Lyndon Baines Johnson to Richard Nixon

during 1968 presidential transition

By 1968 Lyndon Johnson had become a war president. Hoping to be remembered as the president who used his office and powers to build a truly Great Society of equal opportunity and justice for all Americans, Johnson now feared a legacy shaped by the chants, “Hey, hey, LBJ, how many kids did you kill today?” and “One, two, three, four. We don’t want your fucking war!”

The optimistic rhetoric of kill ratios, body counts, attrition, weapons loss, order of battle, and population control no longer held credibility with the American public. By 1968 a dwindling number of Americans doubted that they would ever see the long-promised “light at the end of the tunnel.”

Despite 525,000 troops committed to the war, thousands upon thousands dead, wounded, and missing, billions of dollars and resources allocated, extensive bombings of South and North Vietnam, and the defoliation of forests with deadly toxins that destroyed jungles and poisoned civilians and soldiers alike, the pace of the war and the capacity to sustain it were controlled not by America but by the enemy.

During the early morning hours of January 31, the Vietnamese New Year known as Tet, a combined force of approximately 80,000 North Vietnamese regulars and Vietcong guerrillas attacked over 100 cities in South Vietnam. The military goal was to achieve a popular uprising and, as captured documents revealed, “move forward to achieve final victory.”

This final victory was not achieved, but there were psychological and political gains in the offing. The front page of the February 1 New York Times showed the picture of the U.S. embassy in Saigon under assault. Guerrillas had blasted their way into the embassy and held part of the ground for nearly six hours. All 19 guerrillas were killed, as were four MPs, a Marine guard, and a South Vietnamese embassy employee.

The story of Tet has been told elsewhere and will not be repeated here. The enemy sustained major losses from which it would take years to recover. As Don Oberdorfer explained, “The Viet Cong lost the best of a generation of resistance fighters, and after Tet increasing numbers of North Vietnamese had to be sent South to fill the ranks. The war became increasingly a conventional battle and less an insurgency.” But Tet also demonstrated the enemy’s great skill in planning, coordination, and courage. North Vietnam regular and Vietcong forces had successfully infiltrated previously secure population centers and exploited Saigon’s claims of security from attack.

Johnson’s field commander, General William C. Westmoreland, now requested additional troops to regain the strategic initiative. Westmoreland believed that the enemy was throwing in all his military chips to go for broke. In late February 1968 the chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, General Earle G. Wheeler, went to Vietnam for three days of consultations with Westmoreland and the senior American commander in each of the corps areas. Secretary of Defense Clark Clifford described President Johnson during this period “as worried as I have ever seen him.”

On February 27 Johnson received Wheeler’s report with recommendations on military requirements in South Vietnam, which amounted to a request for 206,000 additional troops. To many, this was proof of the bankruptcy of the Army’s strategy in Vietnam. Despite the large enemy losses during Tet, the United States was no closer to achieving its goal in Vietnam than it was in 1965. There appeared to be no breaking point in the enemy’s will to continue the struggle indefinitely. The new reinforcements would bring the total American military commitment to three-quarters of a million troops. It seemed increasingly evident that no amount of military power would bring North Vietnam to the conference table for negotiations without stopping the bombing.

That very evening of February 27, CBS television anchorman Walter Cronkite told the nation that the war was destined to end in stalemate: “We have been too often disappointed by the optimism of the American leaders, both in Vietnam and Washington, to have faith any longer in the silver linings they find in the darkest clouds. . . . For it seems now more certain than ever that the bloody experience of Vietnam is to end in a stalemate. To say that we are mired in stalemate seems the only realistic, yet unsatisfactory, conclusion.”

The president appointed a task force under the direction of Secretary of Defense Clifford to evaluate the Wheeler-Westmoreland troop request. The president’s final instructions to Clifford were, “Give me the lesser of evils.” Clifford took the lead among a small group of LBJ advisers who believed that the war had become a sinkhole and that no matter how many forces the U.S. put in, the enemy would match it. “I see more fighting with more and more casualties on the U.S. side with no end in sight to the action,” Clifford would tell the president. For weeks, Johnson wavered between a bombing halt and upping the ante by another 206,000 troops. For weeks, an anguished president awakened in the middle of the night and walked the halls of the White House or called downstairs to the situation room for an update on American casualties. Meanwhile, Clifford led a cabal trying to convince their president that he ought to stop the bombing and thereby start the negotiations that might end the war. “Is he with us?” a phrase used from the French Revolution, became the code for the group.

Johnson was torn between instincts that told him the North Vietnamese could not be trusted and fears that a bombing halt would be exploited by domestic political opponents. At the National Farmers Union convention in late March 1968, Johnson spoke of his desire to “achieve an honorable peace and a just peace at the negotiating table. But wanting peace, praying for peace, and desiring peace, as Chamberlain found out, doesn’t always give you peace.” Johnson also believed that there was political capital in a bombing halt. If things did not work out, he had gone the extra mile, only to be rebuked, and therefore the bombing could be renewed. Johnson had grave doubts about the sincerity of the men in Hanoi’s Politburo but he felt he had no choice except to move ahead. “It’s easier to satisfy Ho Chi Minh than Bill Fulbright,” Johnson told Clifford. (From 1959 to 1974 J. William Fulbright served as chairman of the Senate Foreign Relations Committee. His was a powerful voice of dissent during the Vietnam War, leading Johnson to refer demeaningly to the senator as “half-bright.”)

Johnson would be wrong in his judgment of Ho. But at this crucial juncture in the history of the war, LBJ was rolling the dice, believing that his decisions might result in negotiations but most certainly would allow him to renew the bombing if Hanoi did not cease its military activities. He would not stop all of the bombing until Hanoi agreed to cease attacking the cities. Addressing the nation on March 31, 1968, the president spoke of his willingness “to move immediately toward peace through negotiations.” Johnson announced, “There is no need to delay talks that could bring an end to this long and this bloody war.” He was “taking the first step to de-escalate the level of hostilities” by unilaterally reducing attacks on North Vietnam, except in the area north of the demilitarized zone, known as the DMZ. “The area in which we are stopping our attacks includes almost 90% of North Vietnam’s population and most of its territory,” said Johnson. “Even this very limited bombing of the North could come to an early end if our restraint is matched by restraint in Hanoi.”

Johnson called on North Vietnam’s leader, Ho Chi Minh, to respond favorably and positively to these overtures and not to take advantage of this restraint. “We are prepared to move immediately toward peace through negotiations.” The United States was “ready to send its representatives to any forum, at any time, to discuss the means of bringing this ugly war to an end.” To prove his sincerity, Johnson named the distinguished American ambassador W. Averell Harriman as his “personal representative for such talks,” assigning Harriman the task to “search for peace.”

Then, in a dramatic gesture toward national unity, the president renounced his chance at reelection. “With America’s sons in the fields far away, with America’s future under challenge right here at home, with our hopes and the world’s hopes for peace in the balance every day, I do not believe that I should devote an hour or a day of my time to any personal partisan causes or to any duties other than the awesome duties of this office—the presidency of your country. Accordingly, I shall not seek and I will not accept the nomination of my party for another term as your President.”

Three days later, Radio Hanoi broadcast the news that North Vietnam had accepted Johnson’s offer and would agree to establish contact between the representatives of the United States and North Vietnam. This was the first time that Hanoi had said publicly it was willing to talk. It nevertheless was careful to stipulate that these initial contacts would focus first on bringing about the unconditional end to American bombing and other acts of aggression against Vietnam.

Johnson’s announcement that he would not seek reelection stunned the country. To many, the hawk was dead. To others, the war had claimed as victim a man of immense talent and heart. Tragedy then further unraveled the fabric of the Great Society on April 4 when the Rev. Martin Luther King was assassinated in Memphis, igniting riots in America’s cities. The Great Society was dead.

Recently declassified documents from communist archives disclose that Hanoi’s positive response to initiate contacts with the U.S. engendered a serious rebuke from China, whose leaders believed that there was no reason to begin negotiations until the North Vietnamese post-Tet military position had improved. Two weeks after the March 31 announcement, North Vietnam’s prime minister, Pham Van Dong, was told by Chou Enlai, “In the eyes of the world’s people, you have compromised twice.” Chou asked how it was possible for Hanoi to have contacts while the United States still bombed north of the DMZ. “We entirely believe in your fighting experience. But we are somewhat more experienced than you as far as conducting talks with the United States is concerned,” observed Chou. The Chinese believed that Hanoi was helping to transform Johnson from a man of war to a man of peace, and there was no need to have done so before improving their military situation.

A few days later, Chou Enlai told Pham Van Dong that the North Vietnamese needed to be prepared to fight for at least two to three more years, through at least 1970. “Comrade Mao said that the question is not that of success or failure, nor of big or small success, but of how you gain the great victory. It is high time you gain a complete victory. That task gives rise to the need for large-scale battles.” Chou described LBJ’s March 31 speech as “a wicked and deceitful scheme.”

It would soon become apparent to the Chinese as well as the Soviets that North Vietnam was determined to be master of its own fate in these negotiations. Le Duc Tho and other members of the Hanoi Politburo possessed lingering memories of betrayal in 1954 at Geneva, when the Vietminh were pressured into compromise by their allies, the Chinese and Soviets. When Japan had finally admitted defeat in World War II, the Vietnamese had hoped for freedom. Ho Chi Minh, who four years earlier had founded the League for Revolution and Independence—the Vietminh—had been preparing his entire lifetime for the August 1945 revolution. Here was the opportunity to rid Vietnam not only of the Japanese but the Vichy French colonial regime as well. Military Order No. 1, issued by Vo Nguyen Giap on August 12, called for a general insurrection throughout Vietnam. Within weeks the Vietminh had taken control of major cities throughout the country.

Following Emperor Bao Dai’s abdication on August 24, Ho Chi Minh quickly moved to proclaim a new independent Democratic Republic of Vietnam (DRV). The People’s Republic of China (PRC) was the first country to recognize the new DRV. It was an exciting time. Eighteen-year-old Bui Tin had come to the ornate French-style Opera House in Hanoi that August to witness the end of French colonialism. “I too was fired with enthusiasm. Like the rest of my generation and indeed most Vietnamese people, we were bursting with optimism and excitement,” he recalled.

Throughout Vietnam, banners proclaimed “Vietnam for the Vietnamese.” Saigon was seething. Truong Nhu Tang described the moment: “Caught in a tide of emotional patriotism and excited by danger and the idea of independence, all of Saigon’s young people seemed to be joining.” On August 21 Tang was in the crowd marching from one end of Saigon to the other chanting, “Da Dao de quoc, Da Dao thuc dan dhap” (“Down with the Imperialists, Down with the French colonialists”).

Two weeks later, on September 2, 1945, Bui Tin was in the crowd in Hanoi’s Ba Dinh Square to witness Ho Chi Minh’s historic proclamation of independence in which he borrowed words from the American Declaration of Independence: “We hold the truth that all men are created equal, that they are endowed by their Creator certain inalienable rights, among them life, liberty and the pursuit of happiness. . . . Do you hear me distinctly my fellow countrymen?”

Born Nguyen Sinh Cuong in 1890, Ho left Vietnam in 1911 for a variety of jobs in Western Europe; he traveled to the United States, where he lived briefly in Brooklyn and Boston, and by 1917 had returned to France. He became one of the founders of the French Communist party and agitated for Vietnamese rights. He was later sent to South China, where he organized and recruited Vietnamese students and dissidents. He became known for his writings as a pamphleteer, editor, and organizer. His writings attracted the attention of young Vietnamese like Vo Nguyen Giap and Pham Van Dong, who would remain forever loyal to their leader and themselves played important roles in Vietnam’s diplomatic and military history.

In September 1945 the DRV controlled the region of Hanoi and the northern part of the country, but the French, determined to stop their declining world reputation, focused on reasserting control over Indochina. Following the shelling of Haiphong by French cruisers in November 1946, full-scale war broke out between the French and Vietminh. As the cold war developed, Washington became more sensitive to the colonial interests of its allies than to the decolonization of Indochina. Ho was a Leninist and pro-Moscow. Not surprisingly, the U.S. indirectly supported the French military action in Indochina against the Vietminh. After the communist victory in China in 1949 and the outbreak of the Korean War in 1950, its contribution became direct. A month after the outbreak of hostilities in Korea, Secretary of State Dean Acheson announced the first increment of American aid to the French for the Indochina war.

In 1954 the French were defeated in battle at Dien Bien Phu. The Vietminh controlled most of Vietnam and sought a political settlement at Geneva that would lead to the withdrawal of French forces and the establishment of an independent government led by Ho Chi Minh. But four of the men sitting around the large horseshoe shaped table at the old League of Nations building with a map of Southeast Asia on it put their own interests ahead of the fifth person at the table, Pham Van Dong. The four—Foreign Secretary Anthony Eden of the United Kingdom, Premier Pierre Mendes-France of France, Foreign Minister Vyacheslav Molotov of the Soviet Union, and Foreign Minister Chou Enlai of China—pressured the DRV to accept much less than it had won in battle. The Vietnamese would never forget this “negotiation.”

The Pentagon Papers make clear that the United States intended to disassociate itself from the results at Geneva, fearing a “sellout” of U.S. interests. A May 4, 1954, meeting of the National Security Council established U.S. policy: “The United States will not associate itself with any proposal from any source directed toward a cease-fire. . . . In the meantime, as a means of strengthening the hands of the French and the Associated States during the course of such negotiations, the United States will continue its program of aid and its efforts to organize and promptly activate a Southeast Asian regional grouping for the purpose of preventing further expansion of communist power in Southeast Asia.”

The Chinese and Soviets, fearing American intervention under Secretary of State John Foster Dulles, forced Ho to accept two major concessions: a demarcation line drawn at the 17th parallel and free nationwide elections supervised by an international commission scheduled for 1956. The elections would settle the question of political control over Vietnam. Vietnam was to be neutralized, meaning that no military alliances were to be made by either side.

The Geneva settlement partitioned Vietnam at a nominally temporary “line of demarcation” between North and South at the 17th parallel, with the Vietminh taking control of the Northern zone and France and an opposing Vietnamese government, ultimately led by Ngo Dinh Diem, controlling the South. The Vietminh surrendered two strongholds in Quang Nam and Quang Ngai. They had wanted the elections to be held in six months, not two years. All in all they gave up quite a bit.

Nguyen Khac Huyen later explained that at the time of Geneva, the Vietminh did not yet have any experience with diplomacy or multilateral discussions. They had just fought a ten-year war in the jungles; there were few diplomats among them. “Literally, we were stepping out of the jungle and going to Geneva, at the invitation of our friends; our allies, the Chinese and Soviets.”

Robert McNamara later observed, “At Geneva, they compromised in order to secure a promise, which was broken. In the future, their willingness to compromise would seem virtually nonexistent to Washington. At Geneva, they tried to play the game of diplomacy with the big powers and lost. In the future, ‘diplomacy’ with the United States would be conducted only between Washington and Hanoi—or not at all. And, most importantly, one suspects, at Geneva they felt they had, in effect, betrayed their counterparts south of the 17th parallel, who had already suffered most in the war with the French.”

“All in all, the 1954 Geneva Agreement was a disaster for us,” said Luu Doan Huynh, “because the big powers were the architects and the Vietnamese the victims.” Why did Ho Chi Minh accept these compromises? As Ziang Zhai’s recent scholarship shows, “Ho Chi Minh must have realized that without Chinese and Soviet assistance, he could not have defeated the French and achieved the position he now had. He could not afford to resist the pressure of his two communist allies.” He must also have believed that in two years, “all Vietnam would be his.”

Instead, Vietnam would remain divided for over two decades. Indeed, Geneva would prove an important prelude to the Paris Peace talks in more than one way. Richard Nixon was vice president at the time of Geneva, and Pham Van Dong headed the DRV delegation. By 1970 both men would be the leaders of the United States and the DRV, respectively. Both drew lessons from the Geneva experience that would influence how each approached the negotiations in Paris. Dong believed that the Vietminh were betrayed by their friends. For example, two weeks after Nixon’s election in 1968, Dong would visit Mao in Beijing. “Twenty three years have passed since the Japanese surrender in 1945 but your country is still existing,” said Mao. “You have fought the Japanese, the French, and now you are fighting the Americans. But Vietnam still exists. . . . It was difficult for Ho to give up the South, and now, when I think twice, I see that he was right. The mood of the people in the South at that time was rising high. . . . I see that it would be better if the conference could have been delayed for one year, so the troops from the North could come down [to the South] and defeat [the enemy.]”

Pham Van Dong responded, “Ultimately, it is we who make the decisions based on the actual situation in Vietnam and how we understand the rules of the war.... We are determined to fight until the final and total victory is gained.”

North Vietnam negotiator Le Duc Tho would hold a similar view. On September 7, 1971, Tho would meet Ieng Sary, Pol Pot’s closest collaborator in the Cambodian Communist party Politburo, who was then living in Beijing. “We will always remember the experience in 1954. Comrade Chou Enlai admitted mistakes in the Geneva Conference of 1954. Two or three years ago, comrade Mao also did so. In 1954, because both the Soviet Union and China exerted pressure, the outcome became what it became. We have proposed that the Chinese comrades admit their mistakes and now I am telling you, the Cambodian comrades, about this problem of history.”

In short, North Vietnam had learned the hard way that it should trust no one and give up nothing in negotiation. Richard Nixon had learned from Geneva to use Hanoi’s friends, the Soviets and Chinese, to force concessions that would lead to a political settlement whose terms could be ignored.

* * *

Northern memories of past betrayals colored the peace process from the start. In 1968, after Johnson’s overture met its tentative response from Hanoi, he wanted to situate them in Geneva again. After all, Switzerland was a neutral country, and the city could accommodate the large number of diplomats and members of the world press who were expected to attend the plenary sessions. But the memories of the Vietminh were too long to allow them to consider it. The comically long list of cities that was bandied about should have been taken as a bad omen.

Hanoi wanted the meetings to be held in Phnom Penh, Cambodia, but that was out of the question to the Americans. The president offered four Asian sites—Vientiane, Rangoon, Djakarta, or New Delhi. All were unacceptable to the North Vietnamese, who countered with Warsaw and the date of April 18 for the first session. Warsaw was unacceptable to President Johnson because Poland had given so much assistance to the North Vietnamese, and in no sense could Warsaw be considered a neutral site. “I don’t want any part of Warsaw, Czechoslovakia, or any other Eastern European country,” Johnson told Harriman.

The Joint Chiefs of Staff ’s Command History of the Vietnam War concluded that Hanoi rejected all subsequent future suggestions made by the U.S. out of deference to China. The United States then proposed another six sites in Asia and four in Europe: Colombo, Tokyo, Kabul, Katmandu, Rawalpindi, Kuala Lumpar, Rome, Brussels, Helsinki, and Vienna. The North Vietnamese rejected all on grounds that they were either not neutral or were in countries that did not have diplomatic relations with North Vietnam.

On May 2, Hanoi rejected the U.S. proposal for a secret meeting in the Gulf of Tonkin on an Indonesian ship, but just a few hours later finally agreed to meet in Paris. United States officials, including President Johnson, were concerned that President Charles de Gaulle, a critic of American involvement in Vietnam, might now be credited for his country’s role in brokering the peace, yet Paris seemed the only possible site. On May 3, 1968, President Johnson announced that both sides had agreed to Paris. He quietly added, “This is only the first step. There are many, many hazards and difficulties ahead.”

The talks were scheduled to begin on May 9. But who, exactly, would take part?

President Johnson knew that the Government of South Vietnam, headed by President Nguyen Van Thieu, opposed any bilateral discussions with the North Vietnamese on issues that would affect the South. Thieu believed that North Vietnam would use these initial contacts to demand direct negotiations between the Government of Vietnam (GVN) and the National Liberation Front (NLF) in the hope of creating the conditions for a coalition government. He was correct, and the issue of who sat at the table became a major sticking point.

The NLF had been created in 1960 as part of the North Vietnamese Communist party’s strategy of combining political with military tactics to destroy the Saigon regime. The period 1954–1960 had proven to the party leaders that political struggle alone would be insufficient for uniting the country. The NLF was active in the South and had many followers, but no real hope of winning an election. The revolutionary goals now aimed for socialism in the North and liberation in the South. After eight years of armed conflict, the liberation of the South seemed entirely possible.

The party’s Political Bureau formulated a strategy for dividing their enemy for any negotiations with the United States. As historian Robert Brigham explains, “Party leaders correctly predicted that they could use the NLF’s participation in the upcoming negotiations to alienate the United States from Saigon. In a secret meeting in Hanoi in early April [1968], the Political Bureau instructed the southern diplomats to promote the NLF as a political entity with a significant role in the settlement. . . . The communists therefore linked the negotiations to the Front’s right to participate, a position the Saigon government had opposed from the beginning.” For the North, getting the NLF recognized as a player would be a victory.

Tran Van Do, South Vietnam’s foreign minister, told the Gazette de Lausanne on April 16, “We do not deny the existence of the National Liberation Front as a powerful organization, but we do deny its existence as a government. It is logical. It is a principle. For us, the negotiations have to be conducted between Saigon and Hanoi who have a common basis for discussions: the Geneva Accords accepted by the two Vietnams. Once that is settled, we are ready to talk to the National Liberation Front as Diem did after 1954, such as with the armies and the dissident parties.” In other words, the NLF had to be treated as a minority party within an autonomous South, not as a principal actor in international affairs.

Meanwhile, the South prepared its own strategy. A secret special committee under the leadership of Tran Van Do prepared position papers on such topics as coalition government, neutralization, and the 1954 Geneva Accords. Do had been chief of South Vietnam’s delegation at Geneva in 1954, but some, like Vice President Ky, did not believe he was tough enough to head South Vietnam’s delegation in Paris. Nguyen Cao Ky told Thieu that Do “might break down and cry again,” as Do, who was from the North, had done in 1954 when he was presented with the final design. Ky offered to head the delegation himself, but that job fell to Pham Dang Lam, South Vietnam’s ambassador to France. Bui Diem went to Paris as an observer.

The group included the most respected South Vietnamese: Vuong Van Bac, a Saigon lawyer; Senator Tran Chanh Thanh, chairman of the Senate Foreign Affairs Committee; Pham Dang Lam; Senator Dang Van Sung; Tran Thanh Hiep, a lawyer; and Dr. Pham Huu Chuong, former civilian member of the Directorate.

By May, with the parties, location, and strategy in place, the North Vietnamese and the United States were set to begin talks. But how serious were they? On the ground, in 1968, the North and Vietcong had accomplished little; in fact, they had suffered serious setbacks on the military front. Nevertheless, they believed that time was on their side. Although Hanoi had spurned Chou Enlai’s suggestion of putting off the talks until there was a discernable improvement in the military situation, the North agreed to attend the meetings in Paris in order to discern Johnson’s motives and garner public support for the cause. There were several layers to Hanoi’s strategy, but until the balance of power shifted dramatically in their favor, the Politburo had no intention of negotiating, seeking only to frustrate Lyndon Johnson as peacemaker.

* * *

On May 8, a day before departing for Paris, LBJ summoned Ambassador Harriman to the White House so that the two men could review the ambassador’s final instructions for the negotiations. President Johnson was under great domestic pressure from hawks as well as his Joint Chiefs not to stop all the bombing as a precondition for beginning talks, and Johnson was inclined to agree. Just a few weeks earlier, General Westmoreland had told him that “in the negotiations, Governor Harriman will have a hand with four aces, and the enemy will have two deuces. I do not see any acceptable ceasefire. We would just like the North Vietnamese to go home and turn in their weapons.” But that was not going to happen, and Johnson now provided Harriman with four U.S. objectives in Paris:

1. Prompt and serious substantive talks looking toward peace in Vietnam, in the course of which an understanding could be reached on a cessation of bombing in the North under circumstances that would not be militarily disadvantageous

2. Creation of some control mechanism to oversee any peace or cease-fire

3. Reestablishment of the DMZ as a genuine border

4. The full involvement of the government of the Republic of Vietnam in any talks on the future of South Vietnam

The American and Vietnamese delegations reached Paris on May 9. The talks at the International Conference Center in the old Majestic Hotel began on May 13.

The NLF was not officially present, but its propaganda campaign for parity with Thieu’s government was growing each day. Hanoi’s delegation was headed by Nguyen Xuan Thuy, the former foreign minister who had faced Harriman at the negotiating sessions at the 1962 Geneva Conference on Laos. His deputy was Ambassador Ha Van Lau, who aside from extensive General Staff experience had been a member of the DRVN delegation to the 1954 Geneva Conference on Indochina as well as the 1961–1962 Geneva Conference on Laos.

Xuan Thuy, like so many others of his generation, had joined the nationalist movement in Vietnam’s fight against the French in his early teens. In 1926 he joined Ho Chi Minh’s Communist Revolutionary Youth League, was arrested twice during the 1920s, and later was imprisoned and tortured by the French for six years at Son La. While in prison, he edited a communist newspaper that was secretly circulated among his fellow prisoners. After his release from prison, he became chief editor and director of Cuu Quoc, the official newspaper of the Vietminh League.

Thuy’s diplomatic career began in 1953 when he was named secretary general of North Vietnam’s Peace Committee and representative on the Communist World Peace Council. He was known for his close affinity to the Chinese. Kissinger later described him as “tiny, with a Buddha face and a sharp mind, perpetually smiling even when saying the most outrageous things . . . His job was psychological warfare.”

Unbeknown to the American negotiators, just two days prior to the opening session in Paris, Xuan Thuy was in Beijing, meeting with Chou Enlai at the Great Hall of the People in a strategy meeting that paralleled LBJ’s with Harriman. “The fundamental question is that what you cannot get on the battlefield, no matter how you try, you will not get at the negotiation table. Dien Bien Phu set up the 17th parallel, therefore the Geneva Conference could reach an agreement,” said Chou. The Chinese still believed the North Vietnamese had agreed to negotiate too quickly, “which might have left the Americans with the impression that you are eager to negotiate.” Xuan Thuy was reminded that the Americans and their allies still had a military force of over 1 million, and “before their backbone has been broken, or before five or six of their fingers have been broken, they will not accept the defeat, and they will not leave.” The Chinese position was clear: stall. War was the only way to further the cause. Xuan Thuy did not necessarily follow orders from Beijing, but he did eventually take Chou’s advice.

Arriving in Paris from Beijing, Xuan Thuy also carried explicit instructions from Hanoi’s Politburo. He was not in Paris to reach a settlement. The public talks would serve only as a vehicle to gain worldwide public support for their people’s war of resistance, gain a complete halt to the bombing, and figure out the United States’s diplomatic strategy. To date, all available archival materials from Hanoi, China, and the former Soviet Union show that Johnson’s bombing restriction south of the 20th parallel had caught Hanoi by surprise. Communist leaders needed time to calculate a diplomatic and fighting strategy that would be effective against the American’s new diplomatic overture.

For the next five months, very little progress would be made. Both sides had preconditions prior to negotiations. For Hanoi, it was the demand for a total bombing halt, as well as the NLF’s full participation in the talks. For the United States, it was that Hanoi desist from infiltrating the DMZ, stop attacks on South Vietnam’s cities, and welcome the Republic of Vietnam into the negotiations.

Xuan Thuy used the opening session to assail the United States for “monstrous crimes” and its puppet regime in Saigon. He repeated what at the time constituted Hanoi’s four points: withdrawal of all U.S. forces, temporary restoration of the North and South zones as delineated under the 1954 Geneva Accords, self-determination for South Vietnam, and peaceful reunification of North and South. “The opening statement by the chief North Vietnamese delegate could have been an editorial in Hanoi’s Communist party newspaper,” said President Johnson. “Their solution was for us to stop the bombing and pull all our forces out.”

Averell Harriman, who was joined by Cyrus Vance, former Deputy Secretary of Defense, who now held the rank of Ambassador; Lieutenant General Andrew Goodpaster, then Commandant of the National War College, serving as military advisor; Phillip Habib of the State Department; and William Jorden of the NSC, used the first plenary session to restate that the United States’s sole objective was for South Vietnam “to determine their own future without outside interference or coercion.” Harriman had been instructed to tell the North Vietnamese that the bombing would stop only if Hanoi promised not to take advantage of the halt and if they showed they were ready to begin serious negotiations. Hanoi rejected all of these “ifs” on grounds that “if ” constituted reciprocity and a bombing halt needed to be unconditional.

The talks proceeded at such an unproductive pace that Johnson sought the advice of his Joint Chiefs for military recommendations in the likely event that the talks fell apart. On May 8, May 15, and May 21, Secretary of State Dean Rusk and JCS chairman Earle Wheeler pressed Johnson to renew the bombings in areas between the 19th and 20th parallels. Rusk kept warning Johnson that the communists were engaging in a propaganda offensive. By May 29, the Joint Chiefs produced a plan calling for a greatly expanded air campaign over North Vietnam, except areas close to the Chinese border. The Joint Chiefs’ Command History shows that the JCS emphatically rejected any mere extension of bombing from the 19th to the 20th parallel and even rejected a one-time big strike. Indeed, their recommendation was that if the talks broke down, it would be time for such aggressive actions as mining the harbors and bombing the North almost without constraint.

The declassified record shows that any serious debate about the Joint Chiefs’ proposal subsided when a new figure arrived in Paris: Le Duc Tho, a ranking member of Hanoi’s Politburo, special adviser to Minister Thuy at the talks. The Joint Chiefs’ History notes that “no one knew what instructions he might bring with him, but Ambassador Harriman considered that his arrival might at least signal a degree of flexibility in the enemy’s position.” Harriman recommended that any consideration of bombing be deferred.

Le Duc Tho was unknown to the general public when he arrived in Paris, but French and American intelligence services had long dossiers on him. Born in October 1911 in Nam Ha Province in Tonkin, North Vietnam, the young Phan Dinh Khai, as he was known before taking his nom de guerre, was an early member of Ho Chi Minh’s circle and in 1930 was one of the founders of the Indochina Communist party. During the mid-1960s he supervised military and political activities in the South; during the French Indochina war, he was chief commissioner for southern Vietnam. He would spend over ten years in French jails, including forced labor at Poulo Condore, later called Con Son, a prison island known for its brutal and harsh conditions. During World War II, he was imprisoned in the Nam Dinh jail, from which he wrote the poem “Cell of Hatred,” with the words, “Rage grips me against those barbaric imperialists, so many years their heels have crushed our country . . . a thousand, thousand oppressions.”

When seen in public, the gray-haired Le Duc Tho, five feet eight inches tall, was invariably dressed in a plain, well-tailored black Mao suit. Beneath the smiling exterior was a hardened revolutionary. “Mr. Six Hammer” was the name his cadres gave to him.

Harriman hoped Le Duc Tho’s arrival was a signal that the other side was prepared for private meetings between the heads of the two diplomatic delegations. He was right. Just two weeks earlier, Harriman had confided to Soviet ambassador Valerian Zorin that the lack of progress in Paris was creating pressure on Johnson to renew the bombing. Soviet premier Aleksei Kosygin now sent LBJ a private message that “my colleagues and I believe, and we have grounds for this, that a full cessation by the United States of bombardments and other acts of war against the DRV could promote a breakthrough in the situation that would open perspectives for peaceful settlement” without “adverse consequences whatever for the United States.” Kosygin recommended that there be “unofficial contacts” between the delegations. Johnson had serious doubts about Soviet motives and North Vietnam’s flexibility, but at tea break during the June 12 session, Harriman and Vance suggested to Le Duc Tho that private talks be held parallel to the public discussions. Tho agreed.

The first of these meetings took place on the evening of June 26 at the home of the North Vietnamese delegation in Vitry-sur-Seine and lasted over two hours, ending past midnight. These initial private meetings produced no progress because both sides still held firm positions. Le Duc Tho insisted that the negotiations could not begin until the United States completely stopped the bombing; Harriman insisted that Le Duc Tho negotiate with the South Vietnamese delegates. At one of the private meetings, Xuan Thuy told Harriman, “I should frankly tell you that the Saigon administration is not the representative of the Vietnamese people. We do not recognize the Thieu-Ky clique, don’t you know that?”

Harriman responded, “You are distorting things. This is not a condition. If you want war, bombs will fall on your heads.”

Xuan Thuy then said, “Do you threaten with the resumption of bombing in North Vietnam? We are prepared to cope with it. Our people have been opposing aggressors; we have been fighting against you for decades. You cannot threaten us with war.”

For the next three years, U.S. negotiators would often resort to this same type of threat, and Xuan Thuy’s or Le Duc Tho’s response would always be the same.

The unyielding stance of the North Vietnamese negotiators was viewed by the Joint Chiefs’ historian as the result of “their belief that the United States had entered the talks merely to find a face-saving formula for a surrender. This conviction was reflected in their arrogant self-assurance. Little progress could be expected so long as they remained under this impression.”

The Politburo knew that LBJ would never agree to Hanoi’s conditions and devised a strategy of dividing the United States from Saigon. The communists, as President Thieu had anticipated, insisted on the right of the NLF to participate in the talks, which they knew Saigon would oppose from the very beginning. Slowly but steadily, the U.S. was tempted to cave in.

Johnson’s patience was wearing thin. He did not want to stop all the bombing of North Vietnam when the communists had not ceased infiltration and were poised for another offensive. On July 26, 1968, he invited Republican candidate Richard Nixon to the White House in order to hear the probable Republican nominee’s views on Vietnam. Rusk and Rostow were the only others present. Nixon made it very clear that he did not favor a bombing pause because bombing was “one piece of leverage you have left.” As Nixon was leaving the White House, he told LBJ, “I do not intend to advocate a bombing pause.” LBJ was certainly leaning the same way. On August 22 he told the cabinet that “we want peace now worse than anything in the world—but with honor, without retreat.” He added that “61% of the people don’t want to halt the bombing.”

LBJ tried to break the impasse in Paris with a stern warning, but already he had set a pattern of weakness that undercut attempts at resolve. On September 15, he sent a message to the Soviet leaders. “Setting all political arguments aside, the simple fact is that the President could not maintain a cessation of the bombing of North Vietnam unless it were very promptly evident to him, to the American people, and to our allies, that such an action was, indeed, a step toward peace. Cessation of bombing which would be followed by abuses of the DMZ, Viet Cong and North Vietnamese attacks on cities or such populated areas as provincial capitals, or a refusal of the authorities in Hanoi to enter promptly into serious political discussions which included the elected government of the Republic of Vietnam, could simply not be sustained.”

On October 12, the Soviets passed a message to the U.S. delegation that North Vietnam would agree to the participation of the Saigon government, but only if the bombing stopped totally. Valentin Oberenko, the Soviet deputy chief of mission, told Cyrus Vance that “if the U.S. stops unconditionally and completely the bombardments and other acts of war against the DRV, the delegation of North Viet Nam will agree to the participation of the representatives of the Saigon government in the talks on the problem of political settlement in Viet Nam. Thus, these talks would be held by the representatives of the DRV, of the United States of America, of the NLF, and the Saigon government.”

Oberenko added that the time had arrived to “move the talks off dead center and that this view was shared by the North Vietnamese yesterday afternoon after our meeting with them.” He emphasized that “the situation is most favorable right now and this opportunity should not be lost.”

The U.S. soon learned that this message was not only a transmission from the DRV but an instruction from the Soviet government. What Harriman had long predicted had been finally borne out. Moscow wanted to deny Richard Nixon, a certified cold warrior, victory in November. They would rather deal with Hubert Humphrey, as would the North Vietnamese. Moscow’s ambassador, Anatoly Dobrynin, later wrote that he was instructed to help Humphrey win the 1968 election: “Moscow believed that as far as its relations with Washington were concerned, Humphrey would make the best president at that time.”

After the August 1968 Democratic convention, however, the Soviets had begun to worry that Nixon might win the election. “As a result the top Soviet leaders took an extraordinary step, unprecedented in the history of Soviet-American relations, by secretly offering Humphrey any conceivable help in his election campaign—even financial aid.” Dobrynin claims that he communicated this information to Humphrey, but that the candidate declined any assistance from the Soviet Union. It was the start of a complicated dance of domestic interference by Hanoi that would stutter forward again in 1972.

At this point, Le Duc Tho tried to launch the talks by posing two questions to Harriman: Would the United States stop the bombing after Hanoi answered the U.S. condition on GVN participation? And, after the answer was given, would the U.S. consider it a “condition” or “reciprocity” for stopping the bombing? The North Vietnamese were prepared to allow Saigon into the talks in exchange for a total U.S. bombing halt, but on October 13 Le Duc Tho received new instructions from Hanoi: the United States would not only have to stop the bombing and other acts of aggression, but if Hanoi was going to talk with the GVN, then the U.S. would have to talk with the NLF. With all these conditions, the chances for a deal before the election were dim. Yet with so many variables—North, South, NLF, Johnson, Humphrey, and Nixon—the temptation to play the election card only grew.
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